A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1.  The trial court erred in allowing irrelevant evidence of other 

acts contrary to ER 401, ER 403 and ER 404(b). 

2.  The trial court erred in overruling Miller’s objection during the 

prosecutor’s opening statement mentioning weapons found in Pearson’s 

car and why Pearson needed them.  RP 57-58.   

3.  The trial court erred in overruling Miller’s objection during the 

prosecutor’s opening statement mentioning a TV taken from the Welch 

residence and Welch’s note that Miller might have stolen it.  RP 63-64.  

4.  The trial court erred in overruling Miller’s objection to evidence 

of the details of Pearson’s arrest.  RP 228. 

5.  The trial court erred in overruling Miller’s objection to evidence 

of the weapons found in Pearson’s car.  RP 208-16. 

6.  The trial court erred in sentencing Miller as a persistent 

offender. 

7.  The record does not support the finding Mr. Miller has the 

current or future ability to pay the imposed legal financial obligations. 
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B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1.  Did the trial court abuse its discretion in allowing irrelevant 

evidence of other acts contrary to ER 401, ER 403 and ER 404(b)? 

2.  Was Mr. Miller improperly sentenced as a persistent offender 

under the Persistent Offender Accountability Act (POAA) where his prior 

Idaho conviction for aggravated assault was not legally or factually 

comparable to a Washington most serious offense? 

3.  Since the directive to pay LFO’s was based on an unsupported 

finding of ability to pay, should the matter be remanded for the sentencing 

court to make individualized inquiry into the defendant's current and future 

ability to pay before imposing LFOs? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

JD Miller was charged and convicted by a jury of first degree 

assault for stabbing Christopher Bennett with a knife.  CP 1, 43, RP
1
 73.  

On the evening of the incident, Bennett and his ex-wife, Stacy, had just 

returned to her house in Clarkston, Washington, from visiting a friend.  RP 

132-33.  They notice a white BMW parked in front of the next-door 

residence with the motor running and someone sitting in the driver’s seat.  

RP 133.  The next-door residence was a single-wide trailer in great 

                                                 
1
 Citations to the record designated “RP” refer to the transcript of the trial and sentencing.  

Citations to other hearings will include the date of the hearing. 
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disrepair and filthy with a ramshackle fence and an unkempt yard full of 

weeds.  RP 125-26.  There were frequent comings and goings of visitors 

who stayed only briefly, indicating the owner, Markham Welch, was likely 

a drug dealer.  RP 132, 169.  The Bennett’s relationship with Welch had 

been rocky at best.  There had been a number of verbal altercations and 

Stacy had called the police on several occasions to complain about the 

garbage, the noise and Welch’s pit-bull.  RP 131-32. 

When Chris Bennett saw the BMW, he figured it was another drug 

deal going down.  He walked over to the car and confronted the driver, 

later identified as Dustin Pearson.  He asked Pearson what he was doing 

there and told him to leave or he would call the police.  RP 172-73.  After 

an exchange of yelling with profanities, Bennett testified he walked over 

to his truck, retrieved his cell phone, and walked back toward Pearson’s 

car.  RP 173-74.  Pearson then drove away.  Pearson testified he thought 

Bennett had a gun or knife in his hand.  RP 206-07. 

At that point, Miller came out onto the porch of the trailer.  He had 

heard and seen the altercation between Bennett and Pearson and had also 

seen Bennett walk over to his truck and head back toward Pearson’s car.  

RP 174, 368-69.  Miller yelled at Bennett who yelled back telling Miller to 
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go back inside the trailer.  Miller thought Bennett seemed aggressive and 

hostile like he’d been drinking.  RP 369-70.   

Miller came down off the porch and Bennett walked quickly 

towards Miller.  Miller said he was scared so he pulled out a utility knife 

from his pocket that he had used earlier that day installing a car stereo.  

Miller thought Bennett had grabbed a gun out of his truck earlier.  Bennett 

came at Miller as if to grab or punch him so Miller stabbed Bennett with 

the utility knife.  RP 368-72.  Bennett denied making any threatening or 

aggressive movements.  RP 174.  Bennett stopped and walked back to 

Stacy’s house.  Bennett thought he had been punched in the stomach.  He 

didn’t realize he had been stabbed until he was inside the house.  RP 174-

76.   

Miller left the trailer, called a friend to come pick him up and went 

home.  He was unable to get hold of Pearson.  RP 374-77.   

Police located the white BMW that same evening and arrested 

Pearson who eventually came out of his girlfriend’s house after hiding in a 

basement crawlspace.  RP 80-88, 227-30.  The Court overruled Miller’s 

objection under ER 403 and ER 404(b) to evidence of Pearson’s arrest as 

well as weapons found inside the BMW.  RP 208-16, 228.  Miller also 

objected to reference to the weapons found in Pearson’s car and why 
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Pearson needed them during the prosecutor’s opening statement.  RP 57-

58.  The items found in the car included a tire iron, a Buck knife, a second 

knife, brass knuckles, and a starter pistol.  RP 208-16.  The prosecutor 

argued this evidence was relevant to show Pearson had no reason to be 

scared of Bennett.  RP 216. 

Pearson was called as a State’s witness.  RP 194.  Much of the 

direct examination by the prosecutor was confrontational and consisted of 

a lot of impeachment by prior inconsistent statements as well as Pearson’s 

criminal history.  RP 195-97, 207-31.   

At the start of the morning session after Pearson’s testimony, the 

Court reversed its prior ruling admitting the weapons found in Pearson’s 

car (the white BMW) finding any relevance was outweighed by undue 

prejudice.  The Court indicated it would advise the jury not to consider the 

presence of weapons in the car.  RP 255-56.  Miller then moved for a 

mistrial.  He argued the jury had already seen and even handled the 

weapons so it would be guilt by association.  RP 256-57.  After hearing 

argument back and forth, the Court denied the motion for a mistrial and 

said it would allow the State to finish its case before deciding whether or 

not to admit evidence of the weapons.  RP 257-61. 
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Ultimately, the Court stuck to its earlier ruling admitting evidence 

of the weapons over continued objections by Miller.  RP 208-16, 321-29.  

The State argued its theory of the case was that Miller and Pearson went to 

Welch’s residence to settle a drug debt or to take something and the 

presence of the weapons bolstered that theory.  RP 257-58.  In closing 

argument, the prosecutor argued this same theory.  RP 424-32. 

The Court also allowed testimony of a TV found in the bushes in 

the backyard of Welch’s residence and a note Welch left for Stacy Bennett 

stating Welch thought Miller was in the process of stealing his TV.  Miller 

moved to exclude this evidence prior to trial and objected to its admission 

during the trial.  As an offer of proof, Miller elicited testimony from 

Welch outside the presence of the jury that Welch later learned someone 

other than Miller was responsible for removing his TV.  RP 144-45, 268-

77, 288-89, 317-18; 8/21/14 RP 20-21.  Welch was away from his 

residence the night of the assault.  RP 271. 

Miller was sentenced as a persistent offender to life without 

possibility of parole.  CP 170.  At issue was whether a prior Idaho 

conviction for aggravated assault was comparable to Washington’s second 

degree assault to count as a strike.  RP 480-90.  The Court found the Idaho 
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conviction was legally comparable to the second degree assault.  RP 493-

95. 

The Court imposed discretionary costs of $1350 and mandatory 

costs of $800
2
, for a total Legal Financial Obligation (LFO) of $2150.  CP 

168.  The Judgment and Sentence contained the following language: 

¶ 2.5 Financial Ability.   The court has considered the total amount 

owing, the defendant's past, present and future ability to pay legal 

financial obligations, including the defendant's financial resources 

and the likelihood that the defendant's status will change. The court 

finds that the defendant is an adult and is not disabled and therefore 

has the ability or likely future ability to pay the legal financial 

obligations imposed herein. 

 

CP 168.  

The Court commented that Mr. Miller’s “ability to pay is not much 

ability at all.”  RP 497.  The Court did not inquire further into Mr. Miller’s 

financial resources.  RP 495-97.  The Court ordered Mr. Miller to begin 

making payments as funds become available while incarcerated.  CP 169.  

This appeal followed.  CP 179. 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
2
 $500 Victim Assessment, $200 criminal filing, and $100 DNA fee.  CP 168. 
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D. ARGUMENT 

 1.  The trial court abused its discretion in allowing irrelevant 

evidence of other acts contrary to ER 401, ER 403 and ER 404(b). 

ER 404(b) prohibits evidence of other crimes to show that the 

defendant acted in conformity with that character--had a propensity to 

commit this crime.  But evidence of other crimes may be admitted for 

other purposes, "such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, 

plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident."  ER 404(b).  

To admit evidence of other crimes under ER 404(b), the court must (1) 

find by a preponderance of the evidence that the misconduct occurred; (2) 

identify, as a matter of law, the purpose of the evidence; (3) conclude that 

the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged; and, 

finally, (4) balance the probative value of the evidence against its 

prejudicial effect.  State v. Williams, 156 Wn. App. 482, 490, 234 P.3d 

1174 (2010) (citing State v. Vy Thang, 145 Wn.2d 630, 642, 41 P.3d 1159 

(2002)).  A trial court’s decision to admit evidence of a defendant's [other] 

acts will be reversed upon showing an abuse of the court's discretion.  

State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). 

A trial court must determine on the record whether the danger of 

undue prejudice substantially outweighs the probative value of such 
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evidence, in view of the other means of proof and other factors.  ER 403; 

Comment, ER 404(b); State v. Dennison, 115 Wn.2d 609, 628, 801 P.2d 

193 (1990).  When evidence is likely to stimulate an emotional response 

rather than a rational decision, a danger of unfair prejudice exists.  State v. 

Rice, 48 Wn. App. 7, 13, 737 P.2d 726 (1987).  When considering 

misconduct which does not rise to a level of criminal activity, but which 

may nonetheless disparage the defendant, extreme caution must be used to 

avoid prejudice.  State v. Myers, 49 Wn. App. 243, 247, 742 P.2d 180 

(1987) (citing 5 K. Tegland, Wash.Prac., Evidence, Comment 404, at 258 

(2d ed. 1982)).  " 'In doubtful cases the scale should be tipped in favor of 

the defendant and exclusion of the evidence.' "  State v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 

772, 776, 725 P.2d 951 (1986) (quoting State v. Bennett, 36 Wn. App. 

176, 180, 672 P.2d 772 (1983)). 

a. Evidence of the details of Pearson’s arrest and the weapons 

found in Pearson’s BMW should not have been admitted pursuant 

to ER 404(b). 

 

"Relevant evidence" means evidence having any tendency to make 

the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the 

action more probable or less probable than it would be without the 

evidence.  ER 401; State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 862, 889 P.2d 487 

(1995).  Under this definition, Pearson’s arrest is irrelevant.  Pearson was 
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not present when the assault occurred and had no involvement in the 

assault.  He had already driven away.  He did not pick up Miller after the 

incident and Miller did not go to the house where Pearson was arrested.  

The prosecutor and the Court seemed to forget throughout the trial that 

Pearson was not a co-defendant in this case.  Thus, the fact that Pearson 

was hiding from the police is not evidence of flight or any other 

incriminating activity pertaining to Miller’s case. 

The only purpose of this evidence, as well as the evidence of 

Pearson’s prior convictions, was to show Pearson was a criminal type.  

Ergo, since Miller was hanging out with Pearson, Miller must also be a 

criminal type having the propensity to commit the underlying offense.  

This guilt by association is exactly the type of character evidence 

prohibited by ER 404(b) and ER 403.  

Even more egregious was the Court’s ruling admitting the weapons 

found inside the BMW.  Again, this evidence was totally irrelevant to this 

offense.  The prosecutor argued this evidence was relevant to show 

Pearson had no reason to be scared of Bennett.  RP 216.  How is that 

relevant to the alleged assault by Miller?  The relevant mental state is that 

of Miller not Pearson.  Even assuming Miller was aware of the weapons in 
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the BMW, both Pearson and the weapons were gone before the assault 

occurred.  Therefore, the weapons have no relevance to the assault charge. 

The State also argued its theory of the case was that Miller and 

Pearson went to Welch’s residence to settle a drug debt or to take 

something and the presence of the weapons bolstered that theory.  There 

was no evidence of any drugs presented at trial and Miller was not charged 

with burglary or theft of the TV.  Moreover, the alleged assault occurred as 

a result of a confrontation between Miller and Bennett.  It was not the 

result of Bennett catching Miller in the act of stealing something or 

committing some other crime.  Therefore, the weapons have no relevance 

to the assault charge. 

This evidence had no probative value and was highly prejudicial.  

Its sole purpose was to show Miller was a criminal type and therefore had 

the propensity to commit the underlying offense.  This evidence is 

prohibited by ER 404(b) and ER 403 and should have been excluded. 

b. Evidence of the TV and Welch’s note should not have been 

admitted pursuant to ER 404(b). 

 

Since Miller was not charged with burglary or theft, this evidence 

was irrelevant to any element of the assault charge.  In addition, there is 

insufficient evidence that any misconduct by Miller actually occurred in 

that regard.  Welch was away from his residence the night of the assault.  
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RP 271.  While Welch testified he wrote the note stating he thought Miller 

was in the process of stealing his TV, he also testified he later learned 

someone else was responsible and Miller had nothing to do with it.  RP 

268-70.   

Thus, evidence of this other incident is not essential to make the 

existence of any fact that is of consequence to the current charge more 

probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.  Instead, 

the evidence of the other crime only shows that Miller acted in conformity 

with that character exhibited in the other incident and had the propensity to 

commit this crime.  This is precisely the type of evidence prohibited by ER 

404(b).  The probative value of this evidence was minimal or nonexistent 

and was far outweighed by its prejudicial effect.  Therefore, the trial court 

abused its discretion in allowing this evidence as well as the other 

evidence previously mentioned.   

c. Admitting the improper ER 404(b) evidence was not harmless 

error. 

 

It is well settled that the erroneous admission of evidence in 

violation of ER 404(b) is analyzed under the lesser standard for 

nonconstitutional error.  State v. Gresham, 173 Wash. 2d 405, 433, 269 

P.3d 207, (2012).  The question is whether, “ ‘within reasonable 

probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would 
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have been materially affected.’ ”  Id. (quoting State v. Cunningham, 93 

Wn.2d 823, 831, 613 P.2d 1139 (1980)). 

Here, the erroneous admission of evidence regarding the details of 

Pearson’s arrest, the weapons found in the BMW, the TV, and the note 

from Welch was not harmless error.  Without that evidence, this case boils 

down to a credibility contest between Miller and Bennett.  Miller thought 

Bennett had grabbed a gun out of his truck earlier and said Bennett came 

at Miller as if to grab or punch him.  RP 368-72.  Bennett denied making 

any threatening or aggressive movements.  RP 175.  The jury could have 

easily been swayed in favor of Miller’s version had it not been influenced 

by the erroneously admitted 404(b) evidence. 

Based on the admission of the 404(b) evidence, the State was able 

to argue in closing that Miller and Pearson went to Welch’s residence to 

commit a crime.  RP 424-32.  The State would not have been able to make 

that argument if the Court had properly excluded the 404(b) evidence.  It is 

within reasonable probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of 

the trial would have been materially affected.  Therefore, the error was not 

harmless. 
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2.  Miller was improperly sentenced as a persistent offender under 

the Persistent Offender Accountability Act (POAA) because his prior 

Idaho conviction for aggravated assault is not legally or factually 

comparable to a Washington most serious offense. 

 Under the Persistent Offender Accountability Act (POAA), 

codified at RCW 9.94A.570, a persistent offender shall be sentenced to a 

term of total confinement for life without the possibility of release.  RCW 

9.94A.570.  A “persistent offender,” as applicable in the present case, is an 

individual who has been convicted in this state of a most serious felony 

offense, and 

[h]as, before the commission of the offense … been 

convicted as an offender on at least two separate 

occasions, whether in this state or elsewhere, of 

felonies that under the laws of this state would be 

considered most serious offenses and would be 

included in the offender score under RCW 

9.94A.525; provided that of the two or more 

previous convictions, at least one conviction must 

have occurred before the commission of any of the 

other most serious offenses for which the offender 

was previously convicted…. 

 

RCW 9.94A.030(38). 

 A “most serious offense,” as applicable herein, is defined as: 

(a) Any felony defined under any law as a class A 

felony or criminal solicitation of or criminal 

conspiracy to commit a class A felony; 

(b) Assault in the second degree… 
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(o) Robbery in the second degree…. 

 

RCW 9.94A.030(33).   

 Washington convictions for most serious offenses, obviously, will 

be applied toward a sentencing court’s analysis of criminal history for 

purposes of sentencing under the POAA.  However, foreign convictions 

from another state or federal court may only count as a most serious 

offense if the Court is able to find that the offense is legally or factually 

comparable to a Washington most serious offense.  In re: Personal 

Restraint of Lavery, 154 Wn.2d 249, 254, 111 P.3d 837 (2005).  

 To determine whether a foreign conviction is legally comparable to 

a Washington most serious offense, courts employ a two-part test: first, the 

court must examine whether the elements of the foreign offense are 

substantially similar to a Washington most serious offense.  Id. at 255. 

Offenses are not legally comparable if the foreign offense covers a broader 

range of illegal activity than the Washington offense.  State v. Latham, 183 

Wn. App. 390, 397, 335 P.3d 960 (2014).  If the foreign offense is legally 

comparable, then the inquiry ends and the foreign offense is counted as if 

it were a Washington offense.  State v. Jordan, 180 Wn.2d 456, 461, 

325P.3d 181 (2014).  
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 If, however, the elements of the foreign conviction are not 

substantially similar, or if the Washington offense is defined more 

narrowly than the foreign offense, it is necessary to look to the factual 

record of the foreign conviction to establish factual comparability. Latham, 

183 Wn. App. at 397, citing, State v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 472, 479, 973 P.2d 

452 (1999), abrogated by statute on other grounds at RCW 9.94A.530(2).  

 It is the State who bears the burden of proving by a preponderance 

of the evidence that the record supports the existence and classification of 

out-of-state convictions.  Ford, 137 Wn.2d at 480.  Information provided 

in support of the State’s burden must have some minimum indicia of 

reliability beyond mere allegation and must have some basis in the record. 

Id. at 481-82.  The defendant has no burden of disproving the State’s 

assertions which are unsupported by evidence.  Id.  

a. Idaho’s aggravated assault is not a class A felony because Idaho 

has no subdivided classifications of felonies. 

 

 The POAA includes “Any felony defined under any law as a class 

A felony or criminal solicitation of or criminal conspiracy to commit a 

class A felony” within the list of crimes considered to be most violent 

offenses.  RCW 9.94A.030(33)(a).  Under Idaho law, only two types of

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