FILED

JUN 08, 2016

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

No. 331831

IN THE COURT OF THE APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

JD MILLER, Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BENJAMIN C. NICHOLS
Asotin County
Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #23006

P. O. Box 220
Asotin, Washington 99402
(509) 243-2061

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

Idaho Code § 18-905(a). An “assault” is defined in Idaho law as:

(a) An unlawful attempt, coupled with apparent ability, to commit a violent injury on the person of another; or

(b) An intentional, unlawful threat by word or act to do violence to the person of another, coupled with an

apparent ability to do so, and doing some act which creates a well-founded fear in such other person that such violence is imminent.

Idaho Code § 18-901. Washington's definition of "assault" cannot be found in the criminal code, and so our courts rely on the common law for its definition. State v. Aumick, 73 Wn. App. 379, 382, 869 P.2d 421 (Div. III, 1994); State v. Hupe, 50 Wn. App. 277, 282, 748 P.2d 263 (Div. I, 1988), *review denied*, 110 Wn.2d 1019 (1988). Three definitions of assault are recognized in Washington:

(1) an attempt, with unlawful force, to inflict bodily injury upon another [attempted battery]; (2) an unlawful touching with criminal intent [actual battery]; and (3) putting another in apprehension of harm whether or not the actor intends to inflict or is capable of inflicting that harm [common law assault].

State v. Wilson, 125 Wn.2d 212, 217-218, 883 P.2d 320, 323 (1994) (*citations omitted*). This definition not only completely encompasses the two alternatives recognized by the Idaho law, attempted battery and common law assault, it goes even further and includes actual battery. As set forth above, when the Washington law defines an offense with elements that exceed those of a foreign statute, then the conviction under the foreign statute is necessarily comparable to a Washington offense.

Having found "legal comparability" as to the definition of assault, the Court should next turn to the definition of "deadly weapon or instrument" as used in Idaho law. The relevant Idaho statute defines a deadly weapon in rather vague terms: "Deadly weapon or

instrument' as used in this chapter is defined to include any firearm, though unloaded or so defective that it can not be fired." I.C. §18-905(c). However, the Idaho Courts have held that a knife will satisfy the definition of a "deadly weapon:"

Here, it cannot be seriously argued that Lenz wielded the knife and uttered a deadly threat without an appreciation that – under the circumstances -- the knife could be considered a deadly weapon.

State v. Lenz, 103 Idaho 632, 635, 651 P.2d 566, 569 (Idaho Ct. App. 1982). By way of illustration, State v. Hernandez is another case wherein the Idaho Courts recognized a knife as meeting the legal definition of "deadly weapon" under the Idaho law on aggravated assault:

Our Supreme Court has defined a deadly weapon as a weapon which is likely to produce death or great bodily injury. If it appears that the instrumentality is capable of being used in a deadly or dangerous manner and it may fairly be inferred from the evidence that its possessor intended on a particular occasion to use it as a weapon should the circumstances require, its character as a dangerous or deadly weapon may be thus established, at least for the purposes of that occasion.

State v. Hernandez, 120 Idaho 653, 657, 818 P.2d 768, 772 (Idaho Ct. App. 1991). This definition, developed through case law, "a weapon which is likely to produce death or great bodily injury" is concurrent with the Washington statutory definition:

"Deadly weapon" means any explosive or loaded or unloaded firearm, and shall include any other weapon, device, instrument, article, or substance, including a "vehicle" as defined in this section, which, under the

circumstances in which it is used, attempted to be used, or threatened to be used, is readily capable of causing death or substantial bodily harm.

RCW 9A.04.110(6).

Although the Washington Courts have not specifically ruled on the comparability of Idaho's Aggravated Assault and Washington's Assault in the Second Degree, in State v. Keller our Courts conducted the comparability analysis on an Arizona offense that is strikingly similar to the Idaho law at issue herein. State v. Keller, 143 Wn.2d 267, 281 - 282, 19 P.3d 1030 (2001). The relevant Arizona criminal statute defines "Aggravated Assault" as follows:

A person commits aggravated assault if the person commits assault as prescribed by section 13-1203 under any of the following circumstances: . . . If the person uses a deadly weapon or dangerous instrument.

Arizona Revised Statute §13-1204(A)(2). That State similarly defines assault as:

A person commits assault by: 1. Intentionally, knowingly or recklessly causing any physical injury to another person; or 2. Intentionally placing another person in reasonable apprehension of imminent physical injury; or 3. Knowingly touching another person with the intent to injure, insult or provoke such person.

ARS §13-1203. The terms "deadly weapon" and "dangerous weapon" are defined in the Arizona criminal code:

"Dangerous instrument" means anything that under the circumstances in which it is used, attempted to be used or threatened to be used is readily capable of causing death or serious physical injury.

and:

"Deadly weapon" means anything designed for lethal use, including a firearm.

ARS §13-105(12 and 15). The Keller Court found that the crime of "Aggravated Assault" as set forth in the Arizona law was legally comparable to Washington's Assault in the Second Degree. State v. Keller, at 281 - 282. The definitions found in the Arizona statutes are practically identical to those set forth under Idaho law. As such, this Court should find the Keller Court's holding to be very persuasive and should conclude that the Idaho "Aggravated Assault," like the Arizona "Aggravated Assault" is comparable to Washington's Assault in the Second Degree as a matter of law.

If the Court herein is not satisfied that the two terms are "legally" comparable, the analytical framework requires that it next turn to a "factual inquiry." The Idaho conviction documents state that the Defendant was armed with "a large butcher knife" at the time of the assault therein. Washington law states that any knife with a blade "longer than three inches" qualifies as a *per se* deadly weapon. RCW 9.94A.825. No reasonable mind could describe a knife with a blade less than three inches long as a "large butcher knife." Without any doubt, the knife which the Defendant wielded in connection with his 2003 Idaho Aggravated Assault conviction was a "deadly weapon" not only under Idaho law, but under Washington law as well, as a matter of fact AND law.

In conclusion, the Idaho law under which the Defendant was convicted in 2003 - Aggravated Assault - required a finding that he assaulted his victim therein with a deadly weapon. Specifically, the facts pled and proven therein were: He intentionally threatened to do violence to his victim [common law assault] with a deadly weapon, a large metal butcher knife and thereby placed the victim in reasonable fear of injury. These facts would constitute the crime of Assault in the Second Degree under Washington Law: "A person is guilty of assault in the second degree . . . if he or she . . . assaults another with a deadly weapon[.] RCW 9A.36.021(1)(c). The two crimes are comparable and the Trial Court did not err in reaching this conclusion.

D. THE APPELLANT DID NOT PRESERVE THE ISSUE OF HIS ABILITY TO PAY LFOs SUFFICIENTLY TO ALLOW FOR REVIEW.

The State recognizes that RCW 10.01.160(3) requires the trial court to make an individualized inquiry into the defendant's current and future ability to pay prior to imposing costs. State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 838, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). This inquiry includes evaluating a defendant's financial resources, incarceration, and other debts, including restitution. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d at 838-39. However, where, as here, the Appellant failed to object below, this Court should decline to consider this pursuant to RAP 2.5.

Refusal to entertain issues for the first time on appeal is based upon well-settled issues of jurisprudence: "insistence on issue preservation is to encourage the efficient use of judicial resources." State v. Robinson, 171 Wn.2d 292, 304-05, 253 P.3d 84 (2011).

Issue preservation serves this purpose by ensuring that the trial court has the opportunity to correct any errors, thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals. *Id.* Here, it will not encourage the efficient use of resources to require the transport of the Appellant back to the Asotin County for a hearing which could have been avoided had the Appellant merely objected and prompted the Trial Court to inquire.

It should also be recognized that the directive of RCW 10.01.160(3) to inquire regarding ability to pay, as expounded upon by the Blazina Court, only applies to imposition of discretionary costs. For victim restitution, victim assessments, DNA fees, and criminal filing fees, the legislature has directed expressly that a defendant's ability to pay should not be taken into account. State v. Lundy, 176 Wn. App. 96, 102-103, 308 P.3d 755, 758 (Div. II, 2013) (*citing* State v. Kuster, 175 Wn. App. 420, 306 P.3d 1022 (Div. III, 2013)). Further, the Court's decision to impose a fine pursuant to RCW 9A.20.021 does not require inquiry into the offender's ability to pay. State v. Clark, 191 Wn. App. 369, 376, 362 P.3d 309, 312 (Div. III, 2015). Of the financial obligations imposed herein, only the Sheriff's service costs, witness costs, and court appointed attorney costs are the only

financial obligations at issue herein. These total \$1,550.00. No other discretionary costs were imposed.

Finally it should be noted that the Appellant testified at trial that he was working on a vehicle - installing a stereo - on the day of the stabbing. He testified that he did remodel and repair work on the Welch residence prior to the stabbing, and that he often worked on various "side jobs." This then is not one of those extraordinary cases of "an irretrievably indigent defendant" whose failure to raise the issue at sentencing and results in actual prejudiced such as would require the Court to intervene. See: State v. Duncan, 180 Wn. App. 245, 255, 327 P.3d 699, 704 (Div. III, 2014).

E. THE APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO PROVIDE ANY FACTUAL OR SUBSTANTIVE SUPPORT FOR HIS CLAIMS OF VIOLATION OF HIS RIGHTS TO PUBLIC TRIAL AND SPEEDY TRIAL.

The Appellant, without any citation to the record or any contextual reference, asserts in his Statement of Additional Grounds that a chambers conference, which he did not attend, violated his right to a public trial. (Statement of Additional Grounds). He similarly asserts, without any support, that his "speedy trial rights was [*sic*] violated when my trial was pushes [*sic*] off." *Id.* Due to the complete lack of any reference to the record or any information as to the context of the chambers conference it is difficult to respond to the Appellant's claim. The Rules of Appellate Procedure allow a *pro se*

Appellant a degree of latitude in their claims in a Statement of

Additional grounds:

but the appellate court will not consider a defendant statement of additional grounds for review if it does not inform the court of the nature and occurrence of alleged errors

RAP 10.10(c). As such, the Court should hold the Appellate to the rule and decline to consider this claim.

For the sake of argument, the Respondent looked through the record to try and figure out what the Appellant is referencing. The only mention of a “chambers conference” that the author could locate in the record is found beginning on page 255 of the Report of Proceedings. Therein the Trial Court notes that there was “a brief discussion with counsel this morning in chambers[.]” The subject of this brief discussion was in regards to Defense objections to the admissibility of the weapons found in the Pearson vehicle. After noting that the subject had been broached in chambers the Trial Court proceeded to put the matter on the record in open court. This discussion was conducted with Mr. Miller in attendance.

The general rule is that a criminal defendant does not have the right to be present during in-chambers conferences or sidebar conferences on legal matters that do not involve the resolution of disputed facts. In Re Pers. Restraint of Lord, 123 Wn.2d 296, 306, 868 P.2d 835 (1994). The core of the constitutional right to be

present is the right to be present when evidence is being presented; beyond that, the defendant has a right to be present whenever his presence has a reasonably substantial relation to the fullness of his opportunity to defend against the charge. *Id.*

At several points during the trial this subject was discussed - all in open court, in the presence of the Appellant and on the record. If this is the event that he now objects to, it is difficult to see how a brief discussion in chambers to the effect that the evidentiary issues would be addressed in open court prior to the recommencement of testimony could by any stretch of the imagination be considered a violation of the Appellant's right to a public trial.

Applying the correct standard in case of an objection to "closed proceedings" the United States Supreme Court formulated and explained the "experience and logic test" to determine whether the core values of the public trial right are implicated. Press-Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court, 478 U.S. 1, 8-10, 106 S. Ct. 2735, 92 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1986). As the Washington State Supreme Court outlined:

The first part of the test, the experience prong, asks whether the place and process have historically been open to the press and general public. The logic prong asks whether public access plays a significant positive role in the functioning of the particular process in question. If the answer to both is yes, the public trial right attaches and the Waller or Bone-Club factors must be considered before the proceeding may be closed to the public.

State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 73, 292 P.3d 715, 722 (2012) (*internal citations omitted*). Applying the first part of the test to the present situation the question is whether brief discussions to advise the parties that the court intended to address evidentiary issues are traditionally open to the press and general public. The answer here is clearly “no.”

As for the logic prong, it cannot be argued that public access plays a significant and positive role in the functioning notifying the parties that the court intended to address evidentiary issues in open court on the record. Failing on both prongs, under the “experience and logic test” the requirement of rigorous consideration of the various factors relevant to courtroom closure were not necessary. The Appellant’s right to a public trial was not violated by this brief, procedural discussion.

As for the Appellant’s claim of a violation of his right to a speedy trial, this too is raised without any factual support or reference to the record below. Without even delving into the mechanics of the trial date in this case, the Appellant’s complaint can easily be rejected by simple reading of the court rule on “time for trial.” The applicable Court Rule provides:

Objection to Trial Setting. A party who objects to the date set upon the ground that it is not within the time limits prescribed by this rule must, within 10 days after the notice is mailed or otherwise given, move that the court set a trial within those time limits. Such motion

IV. CONCLUSION

The Appellant's claims of error as to the Trial Court's admission of various evidence fail because he cannot demonstrate that the Court abused its discretion in any of those ruling. The weapons found in the vehicle that the Appellant and his associate used to transport them to the scene were relevant and admissible. The Court properly weighed the evidence and determined that the probative value outweighed the prejudicial effect. The evidence concerning the theft of Markham Welch's TV, including the note that he authored was properly admitted as impeachment and as *res gestae* evidence.

The Sentencing Court properly determined, after examining the foreign law and the facts of the prior convictions, that the Idaho Aggravated Battery was comparable to Assault in the Second Degree. As such, the Court did not err in concluding that it qualified as a "Most Serious Offense" under the Persistent Offender Accountability Act.

The Appellant did not raise any objection to the imposition of the discretionary costs at the time of sentencing. As such, this Court should not entertain this issue on review. Further, the record supports the position that the Appellant is an able-bodied individual capable of productive labor when he sets his mind to do so. This is not, then, a case which cries out for discretionary review to right a manifest injustice.

The Appellant has not offered this Court sufficient factual or contextual information to consider his claim of violation of his right to public trial. The record does not contain evidence that this right was violated in any way.

And finally the Appellant's claim of violation of speedy trial is without merit as he failed to preserve any such argument as required by the Court Rule. Moreover, the record on review demonstrates that his trial was timely under the facts of the case and the applicable court rule.

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